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Tuesday, March 4, 2013

--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.


We have some undertakings that were filed, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Yes, that's correct, Madam Chair.  There is a group of them that I believe were sent out yesterday.  The response to Undertaking J1.2 was brought into the room yesterday afternoon, but it's included in the package that was sent out later in the day with, I think, a total of eight undertaking responses.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


Are there any preliminary matters before we start with panel 11?  Okay.


Would you like to affirm the witnesses?  Oh, sorry, go ahead, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Just very quickly, Madam Chair, so the panel -- the names of the witnesses, their titles, and their areas of evidence they will address, of course, are set out in Exhibit K1.1, but there is one change I just wanted to alert the panel to.


Mr. Leblanc is shown as a witness on the panel.  He is not able to be here --


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.


MR. CASS:  -- so there are the three other witnesses shown on Exhibit K1.1.  And I could perhaps just introduce them now.  Mr. Dean Dalpe is furthest away from me, then Mr. Don Small and Mr. Joel Denomy.  Those are the members of the panel.  Sorry.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 11

Don Small, Affirmed

Joel Denomy, Affirmed

Dean Dalpe, Affirmed

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  And you have no examination-in-chief for these?


MR. CASS:  There is no examination-in-chief, Madam Chair.  I was just going to have Mr. Small adopt the evidence on behalf of the panel --


MS. CONBOY:  That would be great, and if you --


MR. CASS:  -- but I'd just very quickly --


MS. CONBOY:  -- could introduce them, please.


MR. SMALL:  Yes, I do.

[Laughter]


MR. CASS:  I haven't asked the question yet.


So Mr. Small, can you confirm on behalf of the panel that the panel's evidence in the areas set out in Exhibit K1.1, including answers to interrogatories and technical conference evidence, is accurate to the best of the panel's knowledge and belief?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, it is.


MR. CASS:  And that evidence was prepared by or under the direction and control of the panel?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, it was.


MR. CASS:  And on behalf of the panel you adopt it as the evidence of the panel in this proceeding?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, I do.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Quinn, I believe you are up first?


MR. QUINN:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.


MS. CONBOY:  And I've got you down for 50 minutes; is that correct?


MR. QUINN:  Approximately -- it will be approximately an hour, depending on the responses and the progress we make, if that's --


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. QUINN:  -- sufficient.  Thank you.


I will be asking that we put some exhibit numbers on some communication at the appropriate point, so Ms. Sebalj, if I forget to do that, please help me, because I want to bring them up, and I think Bonnie's prepared to bring up the respective letters.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Dwayne Quinn.  I am here on behalf of Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.  And just before we get to the communications, the recent communications, I just want to set the backdrop so that we make sure we are all on the same page with some of the recent history.


Hopefully this is quick and painless, but there was an exchange of communication last summer as Enbridge was adapting to TransCanada's discretionary pricing policy, recognizing that the recent historical STFT purchases were not necessarily going to provide the economical reliability that we have seen over the last couple years.


So after an exchange of communications starting in early October we sat down, and I think after some dialogue -- and I'm going to ask you if you can confirm this, Mr. Small -- after some dialogue, I think both the company and the ratepayers realized that the company's proposal to move to FT, as opposed to STFT, would be in the best interests of both the company and the ratepayers.


Is that kind of an accurate summary of how we got to here?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, it was.  It was going to be the most economical decision to acquire the one-year FT, but part of that communication you referred to was, we recognize and want to make sure parties were aware that there would be a level of unutilized transportation capacity throughout the year, and that communication was to talk about what means we could do to possibly mitigate some of that unutilized transportation cost.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  That's my understanding also, Mr. Small.  Thank you.


So from early October we had to try to understand what needed to be done, and primarily from the company's point of view was to get contracting in place with TransCanada, because you are moving to an annualized FT contract; is that correct?


MR. SMALL:  That was correct.


MR. QUINN:  So we worked -- and I use the word "diligently", because I think both parties were trying to figure out how quickly we could get this done, and with the assistance of Mr. Cass we were able to put something together that both parties could agree to as, let's get the job done, let's put this in front of the Board to give Enbridge leave to undertake the contracting that it needed to do on behalf of the company and ratepayers.  Would that be accurate?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.  We were pressed for a November 1 start date on those contracts, so you're correct.  Throughout the month of October there was numerous exchanges back and forth to try to resolve the situations that everybody would be happy with.


MR. QUINN:  And you and I and some of your staff had some dialogue to try to understand -- you were trying to understand our concerns and some of the reporting that we wanted to achieve, so that we were, in effect, understanding what you're doing and be assured that the risk of the UDC was going to be managed on our behalf well by Enbridge.


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Would that be accurate?  Okay.  Thank you.


I am going to go in through the more recent communication, and I think maybe this is the time, Ms. Sebalj.  I sent -- officially sent a request to Enbridge on February 15th that was sent through the Board, but I guess it would be appropriate if we put it as an exhibit?


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, do we have copies of that for...


MR. QUINN:  No, we do not.


MS. SEBALJ:  Because it was sent previously?


MR. QUINN:  It was sent previously.  It was through the Board website.  But I believe Bonnie is prepared -- I checked with Mr. Mandyam -- Bonnie is prepared to just put it up on the screen.  And we are not going to spend a lot of time on that letter.  We are going to spend time on the tables that Enbridge has since put out in the evidence.


MS. SEBALJ:  So this is the letter dated February 15th, 2014, and it is "re" this docket number, gas-supply information, and it is a letter from you to Enbridge; is that correct?


MR. QUINN:  That's correct, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.


MS. CONBOY:  Should we give it a number?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, so it is K8.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  LETTER DATED 15 FEBRUARY 2014


MR. QUINN:  And the reason I say I don't think we need to turn it up is because in its response Enbridge did try to provide some of what I was requesting, with some gaps that I think hopefully we'll cover in dialogue.


We received a response from Enbridge on February 27th which included the table that I originally sent to them with some notes and some questions, and then their production of an output table which reflected that -- the reporting that they were going to provide, so that was issued on February 27th -- thank you, Bonnie -- and was that submitted through the company web -- or, sorry, the OEB website?  It was put into evidence?


MR. CASS:  Mr. Quinn, it was submitted to the Board.  I'm not sure as far as the website is concerned.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And it's submitted to the Board, is what I was trying to get to, Mr. Cass, so Ms. Sebalj, I don't know, does that need an additional exhibit number?


MS. SEBALJ:  Certainly if you want to reference it as part of the hearing, it wouldn't have an exhibit number.  It does say via RESS, so I'm assuming it was posted.  I haven't personally checked that, but we can do that.


I assume there is no objection to marking it, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  No, there's not.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So it will be K8.2.  Sorry, and for the record, it is a letter dated February 27th, 2014 from Mr. Mandyam to the Board secretary's office, and it is "re" this docket number, and that's all I have to identify it.  And it has an attachment, a table attachment.

EXHIBIT NO. K8.2:  LETTER DATED 27 FEBRUARY 2014 FROM MR. MANDYAM TO THE BOARD SECRETARY'S OFFICE, WITH ATTACHMENTS


MR. QUINN:  To be specific just for the record, there's two tables, I believe, attached to that letter, and because -- I'll refer to them as page 3 and page 4 as we go through, to help Bonnie to be able to bring it up on the screen, if that's helpful.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I'd laid some of the backdrop on the discussion that we had in the fall, and would you agree with me, Mr. Small, that through the dialogue that we had -- in October, predominantly -- that it was hard for us to have perfect foresight as to how some of the reporting would be done and the ability for that to demonstrate Enbridge's activities in this area?


MR. SMALL:  Certainly when we were in discussions back in October, we talked back and forth about some of the information that parties felt that they would want to see on a regular basis.  So we did file a sample report as part of our updated evidence, of what we intended to provide on a monthly basis as we went through the 2014 test year.


MR. QUINN:  That's correct, but just as a premise behind that, we did have a number of iterations where we talked about what could be provided versus what would be easily available?


MR. SMALL:  Certainly, yes.  I mean, it started off and we did have those conversations, and ultimately the outcome of those conversations was the sample report that we filed as part of that updated evidence at Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 20 of 20.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So in the request of February 15th but responded to in this February 27th document under K8.2, page 3, there is a table which I had originally provided to Enbridge requesting that Enbridge confirm numbers and fill in the rest, which would in my view provide us a more fulsome output of the activities so that we could understand how the risk was being managed.


Would you agree with me that the request of February 27th went beyond what was in the settlement agreement in the fall?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, it did.  Your request from your letter was looking for information for the months of November and December of 2013 as well.


MR. QUINN:  And you -- would you agree with me that that -- I'll say it this way.  The November and December, I had made those requests on the basis of the start of the gas year.


Would you agree with me that the gas year traditionally starts November 1st and is managed in an annualized cycle from November 1st to October 31st?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct, and that's when we would have had the effective date for those long-haul contracts that we referred to earlier.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Small.  That is why we requested the November reporting, and I appreciate that it has provided in the February 27th.


Before we delve into that issue deeply, because there are two issues that need to be separated, we obviously had a desire to assist the company in making sure that, on our behalf -- on behalf of ratepayers, that the most economical transportation choices were made.  And I think you would agree with me, Mr. Small, that a couple of times in the process, in the room with others, I confirmed that I believe Enbridge was doing the right thing; we just needed to have reporting to make sure that there was diligence in managing the risk?


MR. SMALL:  That's fair.


MR. QUINN:  So we move from that, though, back a step, and in EB-2011-03254, Enbridge, as part of the settlement agreement, Enbridge had proposed an increase to its heating degree days for the respective regions.


And I intentionally didn't put through references in detail, because just at a high level I'm looking for your concurrence that the increase in heating degrees days as a result of that settlement agreement required Enbridge to contract for a higher level of transport, starting last year, but again, it would have had to have been in place for this winter, 2013, '14?


MR. SMALL:  Well, the change in our design day criteria for the 2013 test year contemplated that there was going to be a two-year phase-in of that increase in that.


And so we used to have a design day based upon 39 and a half degree days, and we wanted to move to a new design day of 41.4.


So the agreement that was reached as part of the 2013 settlement was that we would -- for purposes of developing our supply plan for '13, we would go from 39 and a half to 40.4.  And then in 2014 we would then move up to the -- from 40.4 to 41.4.


And each of those two years, there would be an increase in transportation capacity required to assist us in meeting those increases in the design peak day.


MR. QUINN:  That's a great summary, Mr. Small.


Can you tell me for the winter of 2013, '14 how much incremental firm transportation capacity was contracted for to meet that need?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SMALL:  Just wanted to confirm with Mr. Denomy, but when we were talking about the impact of the increase from going from 39 and a half to 40.4 in 2013, we were talking about an incremental increase in demand of 80- to 85,000 gJs a day.  And that would have represented what we felt we needed for incremental transport in '13.  And then there would be a similar increase in our peak day demand going from '13 to '14, 2013 to 2014, so there would have been an incremental amount in '14 above '13, of another 80-to 85,000 gJs a day of transport capacity that we would need.


MR. QUINN:  How much was contracted for, for the winter of 2013, '14, for that specific need?


MR. SMALL:  It might be easiest if we could refer you to a particular exhibit that we filed, and if you just give me a minute I'll try to find the reference for you.


MR. QUINN:  I just want to say, Mr. Small, you realize that that was what I had been seeking in my February 15th submission?  Would you agree with me that that was part of what a row -- and it's, in fact, the third row down, in K8.2, page 3?  As you can see under "Peak design," I put "FT?" and I highlighted a yellow section, looking for you to confirm the numbers in that area.


Was that clear to you?  Or was there some lack of clarity?


MR. SMALL:  Well, I guess the difficulty I was having was trying to slice and dice our transportation contracts that we would be entering into.  It's kind of coming at it after we've already done our -- developed our supply plan.


The reason I say that is the process that we go through is to develop what we believe to be the design day criteria for a particular year, and then we look at what contracts we have available, and then what's the incremental amount we would need to meet that overall increase in design day.


So for example, at Exhibit D3, tab 3, schedule 3, page 1 of 1 -- and this was updated on October 29th of 2013 -- we provided a schedule that showed what our 2013 budgeted peak day demand would be, and then what the 2014.


So on there, you can see how the incremental increase in our FT capacity grew from one year to the next.


Now, that would take into consideration the replacement of ST FT, as well as for the growth in the peak day demand.


MR. QUINN:  What I'm trying to do for the purposes of this understanding, Mr. Small, is to separate them.  There was a specific settlement agreement which afforded Enbridge the opportunity to access more firm transport, to be able to accommodate a higher design day.  And in evidence, you had -- and you referred to it already -- that it was 80 to 85.  Although those numbers seem a little bit different, I'm going to take those numbers, as you're the expert.


But ultimately, somebody has to make a decision:  Is it 80 or 85?  So if it cumulative over two years, is it 160 or 170?  Can you tell me what was contracted for that purpose?


MR. SMALL:  Well, if you are -- now you are talking about going from the old design day criteria of 39 and a half all the way up to what we filed as part of the outcome of the 2013 settlement and then into the '14 gas-supply plan, which takes us up to 41.4 as the design day.


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. SMALL:  And in that case you would be looking -- yeah, because when we talked about the 2013 design-day criteria transportation deferral account, that it was going to be an amount of 85,000 gJs, and then when we talked about for 2014, what was going to go into the 2014 design-day criteria transportation deferral account, it was going to be another 85.


And then when we were going through our discussions back in October, I think it in fact was at your suggestion that by contracting for that incremental long-haul transport, that there would be a need to separate out the amount of the UDC in the summer between that design-day deferral account and the UDC.  So it was based upon 85,000 gJs of capacity.


MR. QUINN:  A total of 85 or a total of 170?


MR. SMALL:  85 for the 2014 design-day criteria deferral account.


MR. QUINN:  I thought I was following you, but you had said you would need 80 to 85 in 2013 and then an additional 80, 85 in the two-step approach in 2014.  Do I have that incorrect?


MR. SMALL:  No, that's correct, but what I was pointing out was that for the 2014 design-day criteria transportation deferral account -- I've got to get a better acronym for it, but that that was the incremental increase in '14, and that incremental increase in '14 was what was going to -- intended to go into that particular deferral account.  So it was only intended to be the 85,000.


MR. QUINN:  So if I'm summarizing, you added approximately 85,000 to 2013.  You added a subsequent 85,000, 2014.  But the deferral account UDC that you calculated was only on the amounts of 85,000 for 2014.


MR. SMALL:  That's correct, and the expectation I would have moving forward into 2015 is that we would no longer have a deferral account associated with the change in our design-day criteria, because it was intended that for '13 and for '14 as we moved to the higher design day that it would be captured in those separate deferral accounts, but truthfully, I mean, once we get into -- well, even for '14, for that matter, UDC, in my mind, is -- or the unutilized transportation cost is -- doesn't matter what deferral account you put it into.  It is still going to be the same amount, the total amount.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I don't want to go in too many directions, but --


MR. SMALL:  Sorry.


MR. QUINN:  -- I'm going to speak to what you spoke to and then go back to where I was.


Would you agree with me, Mr. Small, that the peak -- the settlement agreement basically gave Enbridge the opportunity to set up the UDC account for peak design, and separately, the -- you've set up a system reliability UDC account for gas purchases that are made by using FT instead of STFT as the original system reliability decision had outlined.


So would you agree with me that those are two separate issues?  You -- or maybe said better, you've got two different Board orders which provided Enbridge with the responsibility to undertake those activities and therefore the resulting UDC accounts?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SMALL:  Sorry, I guess the tricky part I'm having with this -- and we can talk about, you know, what was the amount of incremental FT that we got because of the settlement agreement back from a couple years ago, how much was the design day, and I guess the two things I'm kind of struggling with is, one, back when we -- in '13, when we were talking about the design-day criteria deferral account, there was no contemplation that there was going to be an issue with STFT moving forward into 2014.


So, yeah, we thought we knew, you know, the circumstances at that time was that there was going to be an amount of UDC that would pertain specifically to changes in the design day, but, you know, how things have changed, that led to us contracting for the incremental long haul, as opposed to the STFT.


But I guess the other tricky part is it seems like we want to take whatever our transportation contracts are in total that we're identifying that we need to meet that peak day, and then we're trying to slice and dice them and say, okay, this amount of this contract is associated with this, this particular year decision or this year's decision.


And in actual fact, what it comes down to is I've got this portfolio or this total transportation contract that I've got, and it ends up being rolled up into one contract, the way we're going to nominate for supply, and we're going to need that to meet the demands.


So I'm not sure I entirely understand why we have to keep going back and say, okay, this amount of capacity is related to this, this amount of capacity is related to that.  At the end of the day we are trying to identify the amount of capacity we require to meet what we believe to be our peak day demand, and that we'll manage those contracts as efficiently as we possibly can to try to eliminate things like the UDC costs that we're going to experience in '14.


MR. QUINN:  Well, Mr. Small, I appreciate that that may be the company's desire, but I am going to pursue this a little bit more, and I hope this won't take too long.  But the reason you've gone -- would you agree with me the reason you've gone from an STFT approach to FT was a result of a National Energy Board decision which allowed TransCanada full discretion in their discretionary pricing?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So right know there is a settlement agreement that's in front of the National Energy Board to determine long-term what's going to occur.  In the realm of possibilities that could come from that resulting proceeding, would you agree with me that it's in the realm of the discretion of the National Energy Board that that level of pricing discretion that TransCanada currently enjoys could be either reduced or potentially removed?


MR. DENOMY:  Mr. Quinn, I think -- well, before I answer your question, yes, there is a settlement agreement before the National Energy Board between TransCanada and the three eastern LDCs:  ourselves, Gaz Métro, and Union Gas.


If I recall correctly, included in that application is a continuation of the pricing discretion that TransCanada currently has.


The application has been put before the NEB, but as far as I'm aware there is no procedural directive from the NEB in regards to that, and seeing as there isn't a decision on it, we can't say what the outcome of that or speculate on what it could be.


MR. QUINN:  We can't speculate, Mr. Denomy, but we can say that it's in the berth of discretion of the National Energy Board to change the level of price discretion that TransCanada currently enjoys.  Would you agree with that?


MR. DENOMY:  I would agree with that, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So back to Mr. Small's point, why don't we just throw it all in one bucket?  We have got to manage it anyway.  Would you agree with me things change, and the reason for your move to FT could actually be changed in fact, and STFT may become more economical as early as next winter?  Would you agree with me, Mr. Denomy, that that is a possibility?


MR. DENOMY:  A possibility, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's all I was trying to get out.


So that is one possibility.  The other side of the equation is, would you agree with me, Mr. Small, the system reliability decision essentially requires if there is a material change in circumstances that the overall system reliability agreement and the provisions in that agreement would be -- could be reviewed by the Board?

MR. CASS:  Pardon me, Madam Chair.  I do have some recollection of that agreement, having been involved in the proceeding.


There is a material change of circumstances provision.  It indicates that, in the event of a material change of circumstances, that Enbridge is to give notice to the parties.  I don't think it goes beyond that.  Based on my recollection, it indicates that Enbridge is to give notice if there is such a material change.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


Does that answer your question, Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  Almost.  And I'm going to pursue it, because, Mr. Cass, has Enbridge given notice now that it has received the GTA reinforcement decision and the opportunity to provide gas, basically more short-haul services and long-haul services?  Has Enbridge given notice to the Board of a material change in circumstances?


I can ask that of the witness or I can ask that of Mr. Cass.

MR. SMALL:  My view is that when we went sent the letters out in July and August of last year, notifying parties of what we were intending to do because of the situation with the pricing of ST FT, in fact that was our way to, in fact, provide notice to counterparties in accordance with that system reliability settlement agreement.


MR. QUINN:  Am I interpreting correctly, Mr. Small, you say you have given now to parties and that we could apply to the Board that there has been a material change of circumstances and the system reliability decision ought to be reviewed again?


MR. SMALL:  I'm not sure about the second part.  I just -- I'm just referring to the way the settlement agreement, the way I remember it, was that we were required to provide notice of a material changes.


And in my mind, the pricing with respect to ST FT was a material change and by notifying parties, that's how we did provide the notice.


MR. QUINN:  So you've provided the notice about the change in the ST FT, and I appreciate that, but the original system reliability decision was premised on Enbridge's need for security of supply, which, would you agree with me, is dramatically changing when the infrastructure is in place?  From the three GTA proceedings, Union's and Enbridge's GTA proceedings, when that infrastructure is in place, does Enbridge's security of supply change?


MR. SMALL:  Well, just to be clear, I mean, there were a couple of elements within the system reliability proceeding that I think sometimes -- a couple of things that people sometimes forget, and we also wanted to talk about conditions in and around interruptible customers, so there were a number of decisions that were made with respect to interruptible customers as part of that decision as well.


The other part of it was assignment of some of our short-haul capacity to counterparties.


MR. QUINN:  Which you are maintaining?


MR. SMALL:  And I -- and subsequent to that proceeding, there was the pricing aspects that we have talked about, and we did provide notice.


Now, your reference to the GTA, the way I would envision it is that as we move forward through the next couple of years, each year we're going to be coming forward with our updated gas supply plan for each test year.  So with the expectation that the GTA project will be completed effective November 1, '15, then you would see a change in our supply portfolio for that 2016 test year.


MR. QUINN:  Right.


MR. SMALL:  So things will be evolving, as it were, as we go along.


MR. QUINN:  Substantively?  Not just marginally?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, certainly.


MR. QUINN:  So we may -- and this panel is not here to determine whether there is a material change or not; that's for another proceeding -- but would you agree with me that the underpinnings for system reliability may be reviewed in the next two years?


MR. SMALL:  I think so.  It's quite possible it will be.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So now what we have on one side, we have the ST FT, the NEB could change the pricing discretion for TransCanada and ST FT.  Something could change there.  There could be a change in system reliability.


Can you understand, Mr. Small, that to the extent we have separate reporting, we have and this Board has the opportunity to determine if the basis for its previous decisions have changed, and therefore, there should be an evolution in how Enbridge manages its portfolio?


Would you agree with me that that that's possible?


MR. SMALL:  I think we're in agreement that as we move forward over the next couple of years that, yeah, our portfolio is going to change.  And we'll want to manage that and present that new supply portfolio to the Board and to the parties.


MR. QUINN:  And that was almost the answer to my question, but I'm looking for specifically that there are different drivers for the peak design and the system reliability.  Those were driven by two separate proceedings and two separate board decisions, which may be subject to change.


MR. SMALL:  Well, the only caveat would be that when we were in discussions in and around this system reliability proceeding, we approached the idea about this to include a change in our design day criteria as part of that system reliability discussion, but it was -- the suggestion of one of the participants and agreed to by everybody that that, in fact, should be part of a separate proceeding.  So --


MR. QUINN:  Right.  Thank you for adding that at the end, because I was going to ask you to provide that reference.


So would you agree with me that there are two separate drivers here and two separate Board decisions?


MR. SMALL:  Two separate decisions.  That's fair.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So having said that, then -- and we can put it in argument, but to the extent that Enbridge is communicating, are you asking for approval from the Board to merge all of these accounts together so they are not separable anymore?


MR. SMALL:  I think for '14 we've agreed to have the two separate accounts, one for the design day criteria and one for the other amounts related to UDC.  That's the way we've positioned '14 and requested the deferral accounts.


But when we go forward to '15, I would just see it as coming forward for a single deferral account.


MR. QUINN:  So you'll have to apply to the Board to merge the accounts?


MR. SMALL:  Yes.  That's true.


MR. QUINN:  We'll save that debate for another day, because right now what we have is reporting for this year.


And would you agree with me that while new infrastructure is on the horizon, that you will have to make significant decisions for next winter before that infrastructure is in place?


MR. SMALL:  Certainly.  And I think right now I would anticipate that we would be in a situation similar to this year, where we will have a level of unutilized transportation capacity, and I would see that we would have to continue to provide some sort form of reporting as we go through 2015 as well.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


So we could -- I think we can come into the agreement that this reporting looks like it could be in place for a couple of years, and subject to change, in the period after?


MR. SMALL:  Well, presumably, once the GTA project is completed and we have the ability to do a lot more short-haul, then if we're able to, we cannot have as much long-haul contracted.  So the hope would be -- is that the UDC would go away, and if it does, then the need for the reporting would go away as well.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


So now turning to the specific reports -- and I think I'm going to try to not have us go through the detail because, again, the numbers are pretty small and magnifying glasses aren't readily available -- would you agree with me, Mr. Small -- and I'll do it on your basis -- that the total UDC risk that ratepayers were exposed to as a result of the two issues was just over $100 million?


MR. SMALL:  About 104.  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you would see that as a significant risk that we would want managed well by the company?


MR. SMALL:  Certainly.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you understand that it was for those reasons that we endeavoured to have ongoing reporting, to understand the diligence that Enbridge was undertaking in the management of that risk?


MR. SMALL:  That was understandable, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So we'll try this at the high level, and if need be we'll go into the detail, but the -- subsequent to your response to us, which is provided in the K8.2, Enbridge provided its first of its monthly reporting as determined -- or as prescribed in the settlement agreement.  And that was in a letter to the Board on February 28th.


And again -- yes, I think this would be the time.

MS. CONBOY:  We'll mark that while it's being passed out, please.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, so this is a letter dated February 28th, again through Mr. Mandyam to the Board Secretary, this docket number, and it is K8.3.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K8.3:  LETTER DATED 28 FEBRUARY TO THE BOARD SECRETARY


MR. QUINN:  Now, again at a high level, I'm going to ask a question, and you can enhance, Mr. Small, but would you agree with me that any gas supply plan, one of the fundamentals of a gas supply plan is to manage your storage; in other words, to have enough seasonal load balancing but not too much gas because you only have so much room in storage?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct, and in our case when we are developing our gas supply plan, included in that gas supply plan are what we refer to as storage targets.


So the idea is that we would want to have -- I mean, in theory, you'd want to draw your storage down completely to zero, but that's not a possibility, because what we're going to want to do as part of our plan is to make sure that we've got adequate gas supply in place at the end of March to protect against colder than budgeted weather through the first couple weeks of April.


So on a daily -- on a weekly basis throughout the summer -- sorry, my apologies, a weekly basis throughout the winter the gas supply group meets and makes a determination of what we need to do to satisfy demand for the upcoming week, and included in that overall assessment is reviewing what gas we are taking out of storage, what we need to buy, and we're also mindful of what those storage targets are, because in developing those storage targets you also are trying to manage to maintain a level of storage deliverability throughout the winter, so this -- this winter has been difficult, in the sense that we are buying significant volumes, but we're mindful of what those storage targets are, and we're trying to make sure that we're staying on track, with our gas supply plan of what that end-of-March target would be.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


And you understand if you go back to my original request, which is captured in K8.2, that I was looking for an ongoing storage reporting.  So on page 3 you will see under "storage" I presented what was the target and what is the actual, which gives an indicator of Enbridge's staying on track with its storage requirements.


And so it is shown, his request in page 3, but when you go to the final report, which you submitted on the monthly report, that storage level is not provided; is that correct?


MR. SMALL:  Well, on the report that we filed on the 28th, at the bottom there is -- that was a line item that I thought we should include as part of the report.  It wasn't as part of the original report that we had filed, but in conversations with you and some of your requests we thought, okay, we'll include a -- that month-end storage number on the report.


MR. QUINN:  So is Enbridge committed to providing that on an ongoing basis while this report is in place?


MR. SMALL:  I would see this report, in this fashion, be filed each and every month.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So the flip side of --


MS. CONBOY:  I'm sorry, could you explain that line to us, please, just to make sure that we've got it -- that I'm understanding it correctly?


K8.2, we've got "storage target percentage", and then 120.3 target, kJ.


MR. SMALL:  Oh, the 120.3, that would be the total storage capacity that we would have available to us, so you would be anticipating that you would have your storage completely full towards the end of October.


Now, similar to what I was referring to at the end of March, you are not going to be quite full at the end of October, because you've got to have some room and some flexibility in case it warms up in November, in case you have to inject some gas as well, but the storage capacity we have available to us is pretty close to the 120.3.


MS. CONBOY:  And is this a typical profile that I would see if I looked at other years?  I mean, understanding -- give or take, but...


MR. SMALL:  Pretty much.  Pretty much.  Yeah, you follow the same premise that you are going to try to maintain a storage balance throughout the early part of the winter so you can maintain that higher deliverability out of storage and then try to get it down to a reasonable number at the end of the withdrawal cycle as you can, and then you would start to fill back up.


One year to the next, there may be slight differences in your injection pattern, in the summer, for example, but ultimately, at the end of the injection cycle you want to be full so you are ready for the next winter.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please go ahead, Mr. Quinn.


MR. QUINN:  No, thank you, that was helpful, because I appreciate you've provided the actuals, and that was my next question.  What wasn't presented was the target.


Now, the target, as you've said, is 120.3, is full, that's 100 percent.  There is a seasonal profile that is fairly regular, in terms of 100 percent around November 1st, and down to a certain percentage at the end of the year.


Would you -- would Enbridge be willing to undertake adding that target, and if not, why not?


MR. SMALL:  Well, I think -- I think what you've got here on the report that we've already provided, because the information in this case for April through December is based upon the budget, so you can see that percentage target at the end of October is -- would be 100 percent.


MR. QUINN:  And as the year moves on we'll have actuals to compare to targets, but would you have any -- would you be able to add target percentage on there or target amount, because you would agree with me that your storage level could change as early as November 1st, 2014.


MR. SMALL:  So are you looking to see on, say, the next report that we file that we included a line item that would have what those targets were?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. SMALL:  I don't see a problem with that.  The only caveat again I would want to make is that I wouldn't want somebody necessarily to get too hung up on specific monthly targets actually -- where we actually are versus where the plan was, because as I was mentioning throughout the summer, we may end up advancing or delaying some of our purchases for injection into storage, but the primary or the main target that we're looking to do is make sure we meet that end-of-injection cycle target.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But I did hear that you would be willing and able to provide it.


MR. SMALL:  Sure, that's no problem.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I started getting into this, but the flip side of this is, you want to go through winter and make sure you have enough gas for the end of winter, as you described, Mr. Small, and I concur with that.


The flip side is in October you only have so much space, and you talked about having -- may be getting to 98 or 99 percent -- you didn't use those figures, I understand, but not quite 100 percent to allow your flexibility for a warm start to November, but to be able to get there appropriately this year, at this point you're forecasting that you will need to leave pipe empty, because if you filled all the pipe that you currently have under contract, you would exceed your 100 percent storage as of the end of October; is that correct?


MR. SMALL:  Which you can't do.


MR. QUINN:  Exactly, so you agree with me that the forecast and what this table is showing is each month you are going to leave a certain amount of pipe -- the forecast would be that you would leave a certain amount of pipe empty; therefore, you can comfortably get inside your storage target for end of October.


MR. SMALL:  Yeah, and I think we talked back in October through the discussions in October.  There is a level of Dawn discretionary built into the forecast, that we committed that we would then replace that with filling some of the long-haul to alleviate some of that UDC that's currently forecasted throughout the summer.


So that's one of the ways that we plan on -- excuse me -- mitigating some of that UDC cost this summer.


MR. QUINN:  Now, I think for the Board's knowledge -- and I'm going to ask this question.  You know that I know the answer to it, but why wouldn't you just eliminate all your Dawn discretionary purchases at this time; in other words, not forecast -- knowing that you are going to leave pipe empty, why would you buy or forecast to buy additional gas at Dawn when you have empty pipe?


MR. SMALL:  Well, I guess when we were developing the forecast the difficulty we had was that traditionally we would have in our forecast a level of Dawn discretionary identified.

It's a supply that doesn't get contracted for until, typically, the month ahead.  But it provided us with a level of flexibility in the past, so that if for whatever reason it was warmer or whatever, then we just wouldn't buy that, and we could make sure that our transportation contracts, our long-haul transportation contracts in prior years, were full.


So if we were to provide a forecast today that assumed no Dawn discretionary, then we have effectively eliminated any flexibility that we had in our supply plan for 2014.


So it was essentially providing us with greater risk, because if we're only allowed to recover a forecasted amount of UDC, then we would have been at greater risk if we didn't have that element in there.


So I guess what I was trying to say is that by developing the forecast the way we've done it, if it ended up being -- if it had have ended up being warmer than anticipated, we would have eliminated that Dawn discretionary and the customer would have been no worse off because the UDC amount wouldn't have increased, if you follow where I'm going.


MR. QUINN:  I'm going to play that back to you, I think, hopefully for everybody's benefit, but --


MR. SMALL:  Sorry.


MR. QUINN:  -- what you are saying is your Dawn purchases were swing volumes that were available to you, one, to make sure storage would get filled, but, two, to choose not to purchase them if storage was going to be amply supplied by transport?


MR. SMALL:  Yeah, it was -- in the past you had a level of flexibility of what you wanted to buy for contract for long-haul, and as part of development of that supply portfolio, you would have a mix of long-haul and Dawn discretionary.  So that if it was warmer than budget, then you would just back off on that Dawn discretionary, because you had no contractual commitment to it.


So what we're suggesting for '14 is by having that included in the '14 forecast, it is a little bit of flexibility for us in the sense that, yeah, if warms up, then we wouldn't be buying that gas, but the amount of the UDC wouldn't be growing anymore, so the ratepayer wouldn't be at additional risk either.


But that's why we also said that if we came through into the summer and we still required that capacity, we would displace some of the unutilized capacity to alleviate some of that cost.


MR. QUINN:  I understand that's what we were talking about, but still I struggle with, with things changed as they are -- and you know that you have excess pipe right now.  In fact, just simple math would say that you've got 61.7 pJs of pipe that you believe on a forecast basis you'll leave empty, yet you are forecasting to, potentially, and have the choice to purchase, 21.2 -- if you take that number, subject to check -- of Dawn discretionary purchases in the summer.


Would you not agree with me that if you've got in excess of 60 pJs, that you probably could not foresee a need for the 20 pJs of Dawn discretionary purchases?


MR. SMALL:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, I guess the -- when we put together the first report, our focus was just on providing an update of information, what's transpired in January, February, and to give an indication of what we thought was going to happen in March.


And we've just left the April to December information as budgeted.


Certainly, as we start to move through the month of March and see what happens with demand and what's going to happen, we are going to have to start updating this information, you know, as we go into the summer.


So subsequent reports, you will start to see maybe a little bit more about what our supply plan might be in the month of -- in the summer months.  So that would then take into consideration things that you are trying to -- should we be showing a Dawn discretionary?  Probably not.  And then we would identify what we would think we are going to do as we start to move through the years, so we will be updating this information each and every month as we go forward.  I won't, you know, just add in another month and leave the rest of the summer as budgeted.


We'll update that as we have a better understanding of what we think is going to happen throughout the summer.


MR. QUINN:  I understand that, Mr. Small, but I guess what I'm wanting to understand and hear for the record is that this is not something that you are going to wait until the end of March to look at and say:  Gee, we have 20 pJs of Dawn discretionary that we were going to purchase.  We have 60 pJs of potentially unfulfilled pipe.  Maybe we don't need all the 20 pJs.


My simple math would say you don't need any Dawn discretionary, and that still leaves you with approximately 40 pJs of pipe that could go unutilized.


At a high level, is that the simple math?


MR. SMALL:  That's the simple math.  And I guess what we want to make sure is that we're trying to -- when we do present the updated report on a monthly basis, that it does give representation of what we think is going to happen throughout the summer.


So we intend to update that and take into consideration, you know, what we can do to displace some of that discretionary supplies and fill the long-haul as much as we can.


MR. QUINN:  As much as you can, but the converse of that is that if it is unutilized, it can be optimized; is that not correct?


MR. SMALL:  The only distinction I want to make is -- and maybe it is just a subtle one and it's just for my own benefit, but when you talk about optimization, I would rather use the word "release."


And the reason I say that is because when I think of optimization, I'm thinking of a lot of the things that we talked about during the 2012 ESM proceeding, where it is supplies that we need but maybe not necessarily within the franchise area on a day where we can optimize the transport, where we can do exchanges with third party.


And in that case, it is still a requirement of us to have the gas, whereas I think what you are referring to is at the end of the day, if we've filled as much of that capacity as we can, to -- in lieu of the Dawn discretionary, there is going to be a level of capacity left.


And to the extent that I can -- and this is why I would say, in my way of phrasing it, releasing it -- it is capacity that we don't need for our own purposes, so we would outright release that to somebody, and we would try to get whatever monies we can for that capacity.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you for the clarification.  So my specific question is:  How much have you released at this point?


MR. SMALL:  Nothing.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Why not?


MR. SMALL:  Why not?  Quite frankly, we're not through this extremely cold winter we've experienced to date.  We know we're going to be continuing to buy additional supplies throughout the month of March.  We want to get to those storage targets that I was referring to at the end of March.


So we haven't had a chance to even look at what we think we're going to need for -- to fill storage at the end.  We've got some numbers here in front of you, but quite frankly, I want to have the opportunity to sit down and develop what that summer plan is going to look like before we even contemplate trying to release any capacity.


MR. QUINN:  Well, Mr. Small, you have a target for your storage at the end of March; correct?


MR. SMALL:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  You will buy the gas, you'll fill the pipe that is currently in place, you will buy additional gas as necessary to meet that target, to make sure you have your needs as of the end of March; correct?


MR. SMALL:  Okay.


MR. QUINN:  So now you've got a number at the end of March, you've got a number at the end of October.  You have uncertain weather, I accept, in April and May, but you have an ability to look at a sensitivity of how much in the last 10, 10 years, the coldest Aprils and the warmest Aprils, so that you can say:  Is there room already to be shedding some of this -- to assign some of this excess capacity?  We realize we are projecting to be 40 pJs short, and it is seven months so the math doesn't work very well, but if you released, you know, two pJs a month, you are giving up less than half of what you expect to be excess.


Would you not see that as a prudent approach?


MR. SMALL:  And again, I go back to be my earlier comments, that at this point in time I don't think it's the best thing to do.


I think we need to find out a little bit more about what's going to go on in March.  We need to have a meeting with other members of our gas supply group.  Included in that would be discussions with Tecumseh personnel, for example.  We want to make sure that if we are going to have to be injecting a fair amount of gas into storage, that we've got -- what we've got available to do injections, we want to get an injection schedule from them, for example, so that we have a better understanding of what it is that we need to do before we even contemplate what we need to release.


And the reason -- just -- if I could just finish, just as an example, if we're in a situation with the amount of gas that we think we are going to need to inject, part of our supply plan may be that, you know what, we want to fill that capacity ourselves for the months of April and May.


And if I do that, then I'm not going to be able to release any of that capacity.  I would have to wait til we -- til June or July before I can release anything, and I won't know that until I get a sense for what the injection capabilities are going to be throughout the summer for Tecumseh and develop that summer supply plan, if you will.


So at this point in time I think it's a little premature.  I understand where you're going from.  You want to be able to see what those mitigation efforts are going to look like, and we will let you know as soon as we come up with that updated supply plan for the summer.


MR. QUINN:  All due respect, sir, you know that this has been a cold winter.  I think everybody here knows it's been a cold winter.  You're not going to have extra length in storage.  You are not going to have extra gas in storage at the end of March.  You are going to struggle to get to the point you want to be at the end of March.


So you know your March 31st number.  You have talked about -- well, maybe you will use the gas in April or May.  Would you get more -- would you get more return, I'm going to say -- I'll use the right language here -- would you get a better price for your assignments to a third-party in April and May versus June and July?


MR. SMALL:  That's quite possible, but --


MR. QUINN:  Well, would you take it, subject to check, sir, which I want to get on the record, that as of last Friday, the April basis, would you take it subject to check, for Empress to Dawn, was in the order of $1.85, whereas the June basis differential is in the order of 30 cents?


MR. SMALL:  That's -- that's fair, and I'll take those numbers subject to check, but I think what we're missing here is the point I was trying to make a moment ago, is it's not as if we can just sit there and say, You know what?  We're going to inject a fixed amount of gas into Tecumseh each and every day.

As you go into your late season your ability to inject gas is going to decline as you get more and more full, and my point is that it may be in our best interest to ensure that we are going to meet that end-of-October storage target, is that we front-load some of our injections.


And if we are going to front-load those injections, then I'm going to want to make sure that I fill that capacity in the month of April, for example.  That's the part that I have to find out first.


So I'm not prepared at this point in time to release any of that April capacity in the sense that you are might be able to get a spread when I'm going to, in fact going to need it.


MR. QUINN:  For gas that is injected during this summer period, when is it going to be used?


MR. SMALL:  Well, we're going to --


MR. QUINN:  Would you agree with me that's next winter?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, and I would want to make sure that --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if --


MR. SMALL:  -- I've got my storage full by the end of October to help me meet demands next winter.


MR. QUINN:  If you fill all --


MR. SMALL:  But I have to be able to follow an injection cycle.  It is not like I can sit there and wait til the last possible minute and inject everything into storage.


MR. QUINN:  I agree with you, sir, that you don't want to rely on being able to jam gas in in October.  I'm not suggesting that.  In fact, I'm suggesting that you could have the opportunity to assign some of that capacity from April to October now, benefiting from a higher April price, and still having far in excess of your forecasted needs.  What would be imprudent about that?


MR. SMALL:  Well, I just go back to what I was saying before.  I'm not in a position to release that capacity until we've had an opportunity to figure out what those numbers are.  And quite frankly, we've been trying to get through -- our focus has been trying to get through what we're doing for the last little bit.  We haven't had a chance to look at it.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I hesitate to interrupt here.  I'm not sure where any of this is going in relation to the issues in this case, but more particularly, we seem to have reached  a point now where the same question has been asked, it's been answered, and it really seems to have reached argument at this stage, and it is more just an argument back and forth, and I would think that perhaps Mr. Quinn could move on?


MS. CONBOY:  I agree, Mr. Cass.  If you could focus your questions on what's appropriate for cross-examination, and if you don't agree, you have ample opportunity to make your case, and your argument in written argument.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I understand that, Madam Chair, and I apologize if it seems to have gone on.  What I'm trying to understand is, what are the limitations that he is presenting for his inability to have foresight to do which might be economically prudent on behalf of ratepayers.


I understand it's been cold.  I understand that prudent utilities have managed this winter and on an ongoing basis done that, but I also understand prudent utilities look into next summer with what are the implications for next summer and what should we do about it.


I'm concerned that at this juncture that their attention has not been turned to this summer, because the ratepayers are still on the hook for -- I want to make sure I get the pJs versus the dollars, but the dollar impact of about $60 million of UDC that has opportunity to be mitigated in the interim.


I'm going to ask one final question and then move on, if I may.


MS. CONBOY:  Please do.


MR. QUINN:  Can you just summarize then, Mr. Small, what would inhibit you from entering into assignments between April and October for the gas that is currently forecast to be in excess of your needs?


MR. SMALL:  At this point in time today while I sit here, the underlying thing that's going to inhibit me from doing it is I don't know what that level is that I could go forward to release.  I'd need an opportunity to evaluate and see what our summer supply plan is going to be, look at what kind of injection schedule I might have to follow at Tecumseh, and once we can do that, then if we've got an opportunity to turn around and say, You know what?  It looks like we can satisfy all our needs and go ahead and do a release of capacity from April through to October, then by all means we will.


But today, while I'm sitting here on the, you know, 4th of October -- or 4th of March, I'm not really sure where I can go.


MR. QUINN:  You're saying --


MR. SMALL:  As I get towards the end of the month I'll have a much better idea.  And if I --


MR. QUINN:  You're saying you haven't analyzed the summer.  You haven't established March 31st point and analyzed the summer; is that correct?


MR. SMALL:  At this point in time I haven't.  And by the time I get to providing you with the report at the end of March, if we've been able to ascertain and do some of those things, we'll gladly provide them to you.


MR. QUINN:  You have a report on them?  Is that what you're saying?


MR. SMALL:  If I have that information, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we will request that of the Board to enter it in, and I think I'll have to leave this point, Madam Chair, and I apologize if it's gone on long.  I was just trying to understand what was holding them back, but it sound like the analysis hasn't been undertaken, which is ratepayer risk which we are concerned about, but I'll move on, and I'll leave the rest for argument.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  You've got -- you've hit your 50 minutes now.


MR. QUINN:  Yes, and the one area that I deferred from panel 7 and I am in agreement with Mr. Mandyam on Friday, was a question about lost and unaccounted-for gas, which is more appropriate to this panel.  Mr. Culbert, Denomy, and Small actually answered the undertaking, so we agreed that I'd ask this panel these questions.


So if we could have turned up TCU3.6.  Thank you, Ms. Adams.  Just to establish a baseline understanding, and the pun was not intended, would you agree with me to operate any storage pool base pressure gas is required?


MR. DALPE:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, we have been for some time -- and it goes back into the proceeding from last year -- we don't have to turn anything up -- but we were trying to understand the allocation of base pressure gas to the non-utility storage operations.


Hypothetically, if the non-utility company had established a completely separate storage pool, would it have required to have base pressure gas put in to be able to operate that pool effectively?


MR. DALPE:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So we've been asking about the allocation of costs, following cost causality principles, that would look to allocate the cost of base pressure gas between the utility and non-utility operations.  And we've been asking this question going on two years.


My understanding of the response – and I will try to summarize it just briefly – you require an analysis of the operation for the base pressure requirements, but that hasn't been undertaken because you haven't done an analysis since 2007 before you had non-utility storage?


MR. DALPE:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  So you have an amount of utility storage,120 pJs, approximately.  You have 10 plus or minus pJs of non-utility storage?


MR. DALPE:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  What would be inappropriate about doing a proportional allocation of the base pressure gas costs for the non-utility storage operations until such time as a more fulsome cost allocation study could be done?


MR. DALPE:  There has been no change in base gas since the unregulated storage.  It is the same base gas that has always been in place since unregulated started –- or I mean since regulated started.


MR. QUINN:  I'm going to -- I think, to make sure the record is clear, you are saying there has been no change in base pressure gas since non-utility storage operations were initiated?


MR. DALPE:  Sorry, to take a step back on that, at times there has been purchases.  I don't have the time frames on that, and there are reasons behind it.  I was not there at the time, but since unregulated has come to be in place, there has been no requirements for base gas.


MR. QUINN:  So again, what would inhibit a proportional allocation of that base pressure gas to the non-utility?


MR. DALPE:  I guess I look at it this way, is that the unregulated utility came in and has been operating -- there has been no change in base gas requirements.  The two work in harmony, and -- the regulated and unregulated, and with it coming into effect, the unregulated side of the business, I go back again that there has been no requirement for an increase in base gas.


MR. QUINN:  And yet the non-utility, would you agree with me the non-utility storage operations can be achieved because the utility storage operations has base pressure gas already?


MR. DALPE:  I guess the way I would look at it is we had an existing asset that was operational, and the unregulated side came into effect, and when I look at it, there was no need to increase any assets where there would be cost sharing.


MR. QUINN:  So we may end up having to disagree about this in argument, but the question was asked in the technical conference for Enbridge to make best efforts to advise the cost consequences of a hypothetical scenario where the cost of lost and unaccounted-for gas and base pressure gas are allocated to the regulated and unregulated businesses based upon their relative percentages of storage space.


Even if we disagree about whether it is appropriate or not, which we can argue later, can you provide us the mathematical calculation for those cost consequences?


MR. DALPE:  So I guess if we look at this, if there was a case where there was an increase to base gas needed, then we'd have to look at the cost allocations at that time, but there has not been, to this time.


MR. QUINN:  In your view; and so I'm asking:  Can you undertake a mathematical calculation that provides a proportional allocation of those costs between the utility and non-utility storage operations?


MR. DALPE:  It would be strictly theoretical.


MR. QUINN:  And we can accept that and you can put that caveat on it, but we would just like to have the numbers.  To the extent that the Board's view is different from Enbridge's view, then they would have the numbers to  be –-


MR. DALPE:  I guess what I struggle with, though, is there has been no need to increase base gas.  There has been no cost to it.


MR. QUINN:  I think --


MR. DALPE:  So these two operations work hand in hand, like many of the items throughout this business.


MR. QUINN:  And I think I understand your position.  Ours would be somewhat different, and I'm just asking for the mechanical calculation, which should be an arithmetic calculation which takes minutes; correct?


MR. DALPE:  I guess when we take a look at it -– and you have two stated in here, base gas and LUF.  So part of analyzing it, which we continue to do, isn't finalized as well.  So again, it is theoretical based on the information we have to date, but we continue to evaluate that to see where the information stands, using different parties, including our own technical experts.


So part of that includes drilling observations wells, as an example, which is part of our long-term plan, to validate this.


MR. QUINN:  In terms of the other priorities, I've chosen not to ask you about your A1 study.  Some of it is in the evidence and I appreciate that.  I'm just asking again for the mathematical calculation.


Would you be able to provide that by way of undertaking?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. DALPE:  So at this point in time I can take it as an undertaking, but it will include a number of caveats around it.


MR. QUINN:  I accept that you have caveats, which you've spoken in evidence and you can add to the undertaking.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Could we have a number, please?


MS. SEBALJ:  J8.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1:  to provide a mathematical calculation that provides a proportional allocation of those costs between the utility and non-utility storage operations

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. QUINN:  And those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you for your indulgence.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Questions by the Board:

MS. CHAPLIN:  I'd like to understand a little bit better about this base pressure gas question.


Am I correct that you have a suite of storage assets, some of which are regulated and some of which are no longer regulated?


MR. DALPE:  No.  The assets themselves are combined.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But notionally, is there some notional part that's not regulated?


MR. DALPE:  So notionally there has been increase in volumes, which are considered the unregulated portion of the business.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So they are -– now, is there a cost allocation exercise that you go through to allocate some portion of the utility costs to that unregulated business?


MR. DALPE:  So there is.  There is a cost allocation that we follow, which was part of a Black & Veatch report that came out, that had been followed up, I do believe, in previous reviews.


So we do have that and we do follow it, based on the report, so there is allocation based on volumes, deliverability and the commodity, the amount that moves in and out.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And I guess what I'm -- where I was confused is:  Is base pressure gas allocated in some way between the regulated and the non-regulated?


MR. DALPE:  No, it is not.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So the utility picks up all of the cost associated with holding that base pressure gas?


MR. DALPE:  So there is -- that base pressure gas has been there.  Over time there has been certain amounts purchased, but when unregulated came into effect -- and to this date there has been no need to increase base gas, so whether it be the unregulated side in place or not, that pressure and the volumes would still be consistent as what they are today.


So if we took unregulated out of the equation right now, there would be no change to what we have for base gas.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But if unregulated was taken out of the picture, presumably would be additional capacity available for regulated services?


MR. DALPE:  There would be, but there was an investment that went along with that, that the unregulated paid for completely.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And so you referred to a Black & Veatch study, I believe you --


MR. DALPE:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And did that -- that was reviewed in a prior Board proceeding, I'm assuming?


MR. DALPE:  So I'm not 100 percent sure of that.  That was before my time.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


MR. DALPE:  We'd have to verify that.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And does that report address base pressure gas as a category of costs to be considered or examined one way or the other?


MR. DALPE:  No, not that I recall, but I would have to go back to verify.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thanks.  That's all I want for now.


MR. QUINN:  If it is helpful to the Board, because I started down this road with them, as a result of the settlement agreement issues of these allocations were brought forward into this proceeding.  It is articulated in the settlement agreement from the rebasing proceeding.


So that's why I'm bringing it up at this time, for us to inform the Board, argue our position later, but that is where -- that's why the Black & Veatch report, as suggested, has not brought up to the Board.  It was part of a proceeding from last year.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. DALPE:  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  We will take our morning break now, and return at 10 after 11:00.


And Mr. Wolnik, I believe you're up next.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:19 a.m.


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Wolnik, I had you down for ten minutes.  Is that --


MR. WOLNIK:  Yeah, that will be lots, notwithstanding that I think I'm the only intervenor left in the room here.


MS. CONBOY:  That's okay.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Wolnik:


MR. WOLNIK:  Good morning, panel.  I am John Wolnik, representing APPrO.  I just have a couple of question areas, and they are both related to transactional revenue, and I think you're the group responsible for that; is that correct?


MR. DALPE:  Yes, we are.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And transactional revenue's really the revenue you generate from releasing upstream assets like TransCanada capacity, right?


MR. SMALL:  Correct.  Well, it gets -- maybe just terminology.  I mean, releasing, it is more the optimization of those assets.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Optimization.  I thought you used the world "release" earlier today, but I appreciate that there could be several forms of that.


MR. SMALL:  When I was referring to the release, it was going to be that excess transportation capacity that we think we're going to have in the summer, so it would be an outright release in generating money which wouldn't be associated with our transactional services, whereas transactional services is the optimization of it.  It is assets that we still require, and that through the flexibility in those transportation contracts we can accept and deliver gas at different points when we still need it.


MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  Okay.  That's helpful.


The one area that I wanted to focus on a little bit is your proposed segment A of the GTA reinforcement.  And as I understand it, about 40 percent of the capacity, or about 800 terajoules or tJs a day are going to be reserved for Enbridge's own requirements to service distribution requirements.


It being a winter-peaking LDC, it seems to me that there may be an opportunity to release or optimize some of that capacity for use by others.


But given that you just -- you own the pipeline and you hold the capacity in your own name, you don't have a contract to release, so how would you anticipate generating, to the extent that there is a demand, how would you anticipate generating transactional revenue on that piece of pipe?


MR. DENOMY:  Well, it's something we've considered.  We haven't fully fleshed out all of the details, but I would tend to think that some sort of seasonal service when the pipe isn't being utilized could be used to generate some incremental revenue, as it were.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And the Rate 332 that you are proposing is for the long-term transportation requirements of transportation customers, right?


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  So you are prepared to implement kind of a shorter-term or seasonal service to the extent that it's -- to the extent that there is a demand through the IRM?


MR. DENOMY:  If there is a demand, and as I said before, we haven't quite fully figured out the details, but if there is a demand, I think that would be something we could look at for sure.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  The second area really has to do with the, I guess more the sort of the financial aspects of this.  As I understand the application, currently transactional revenue is shared 90/10 with ratepayers; is that right?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  And I think you've got $12 million embedded in rates today?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  And I think you've got a -- currently, in the current year, a floor of $8 million.


MR. SMALL:  Yes, the transactional services deferral account, the way it's structured is that if monies -- and this was related to '13.  We haven't got approval for the '14 deferral account, but for the 2013 transactional services deferral account, the way it was written was that in the event that we only achieved 8 million in ratepayer revenues, then we would be able to claw back $4 million.


MR. WOLNIK:  And your proposal going forward is to continue with the 90-10 sharing but eliminate the million-dollar floor; is that right?


MR. SMALL:  That was our, what we were seeking, yes, in the sense that, yeah, we'll continue to give the 12 million in upfront rates, but we felt for a number of reasons that it was necessary to ask that -- not having a cap per se on the amount that we could claw back, and that was driven by some of the concerns we had in and around our ability to generate transactional services revenue in '14.


MR. WOLNIK:  And I think part of that concern that you expressed when you developed the evidence I think early in the year related to some of the consequences, I guess, of the March NEB decision?  Is that fair?


MR. SMALL:  That's fair.


MR. WOLNIK:  And as I understand it, since that time Enbridge and the other two utilities in the east here have entered into a settlement agreement with TransCanada.  That settlement agreement has been filed, and I think you've indicated that -- Mr. Denomy indicated earlier that while it's been filed there is no formal procedural process set out by -- set out by the NEB, but it seems to me that you have got a comprehensive agreement with TransCanada at least, and to the extent that that is approved, does that in any way alleviate the risks or concerns?


MR. SMALL:  That agreement may alleviate some of the concerns we had when we originally wrote the evidence, but as Mr. Quinn and I were talking about earlier, one of the things that we're going to be doing is trying to mitigate some of that unutilized transportation that we maybe don't need for our own purposes to try to alleviate that UDC cost that could be borne by the customer, so to the extent that we're going to be doing everything we can to mitigate that cost, the way to do it is we would be offering up some capacity in the marketplace, and by doing so, is that going to preclude us from generating what would have been our typical transactional services revenue, so where there is still some uncertainty as to what we may be able to do later this summer for transactional services.


MR. WOLNIK:  But you would agree that there is -- it's helpful, I guess, that agreement, to the extent that it's approved, would be helpful to mitigate some of that concern you have to get to the $8 million.


MR. SMALL:  It could be, yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  And I think the panel is quite helpful.  They've answered my question that I had for the next panel as well, so I have no questions for panel 10.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnik.
Questions by the Board:


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Mr. Small, you were discussing with Mr. Quinn the planning going into the next cycle, and you were describing that you will be looking at that more closely, I believe by the end -- at the end of March.  Is that -- did I understand you correctly?


MR. SMALL:  Certainly over the next week or so we're going to have to be making a decision what we want to do with that long-haul transportation capacity in the month of April, because we'll be in the process of going out for RFPs for that Empress supply in the next week or so.  So certainly we'll have to make a decision with respect to April, but our thinking is that we would want to make -- start to think more about what we want to do over the next few months throughout the summer as well when we're making that decision regarding April.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And how does that compare to other years?  Is that the same -- is that timing quite consistent, in terms of your decision-making processes and analysis?  Is that quite consistent, or are you delayed this year or ahead or...


MR. SMALL:  No, it's very consistent with other years.  The difference being is that in prior years the Dawn requirement that we would be expecting to buy on a monthly basis would have been a lot higher.  So we would have been making those similar decisions with respect to the Dawn requirement in previous years.


The only difference this year might be -- is that we are concerned about the amount of gas that we are going to have to inject into storage this summer, and we may want to consider not only doing a monthly RFP for Empress supply for April, but look at doing something for a seasonal supply for April through October, so we might want to have a combination of seasonal monthly, and then, of course, maintaining a level that we would be buying on the day.


So we want to kind of try to see what's the best fit for filling as much of that capacity as we can, as well as maintaining our flexibility with respect to our storage injects.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And your concern with ensuring that it's filled, that's different this year than in prior years?


MR. SMALL:  No, no, it's -- we've got to get there, I mean, so that's a given.  It just might be we have to have a slightly different inject pattern over the summer months from April to October, just because of the amount and we know we're going to have to inject a lot, so we may want to consider front-loading some of those injections.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, so you're going to need to inject more in this summer than in prior summers?  Is that what you're --


MR. SMALL:  If everything falls out throughout the month of March, while we're going to try to get to wherever our storage targets were for the end of March, it may mean that if you end up being slightly less than that, it is just going to increase the amount of gas that we're going to have to buy for purposes of inject throughout the summer.


So we may have to balance things off on a month-to-month basis slightly differently than we have in the past, but at the end of the day, at the end of October, we're going to want to be full.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And just returning briefly to the question of base pressure gas and whether or not there is an allocation between the regulated and unregulated, do you have information about how it's done on Union's system, Mr. Dalpe?


MR. DALPE:  No, I do not.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Have you any redirect for your panel?


MR. CASS:  No, I do not, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


Well, thank you very much, panel.  You are excused with our thanks.

Ms. Sebalj, a couple of things.  Now, with Mr. Wolnik saying that he does not have any cross for panel number 10 -- and I see a lot of vacant seats.


MS. SEBALJ:  It doesn't appear to me as though there will be any cross-examination for panel 10, so...


MS. CONBOY:  I just want to make sure that -- the Panel up here may have a couple of questions.


[Board Panel confers]

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I'm -- I just had a question in relation to the GTA project.  I just wanted to understand where the current cost estimate was at and how it compared to the figures that were provided as part of the GTA leave-to-construct proceeding, because it was my -- I didn't go back and check, but I saw or heard some numbers in the earlier transcripts of this proceeding which led me to believe that there had been a change.  So that's what I'm trying to -- I would like to follow up on it.  I don't know if the witnesses need to come down to answer that or not, but...


MR. CASS:  Ms. Chaplin, I'm not aware that there has been a change, but if you give me just a moment I'll consult and see what we can do to most efficiently answer your questions.


[Counsel for EGDI confer]


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Yes, I'll take a stab at this.  I hope I'll say this accurately.


There was a little evidence update went out -- I guess it was yesterday -- and it addressed, in part, the GTA project revenue requirement.


The first item in the update was an updated version of Exhibit C1, tab5, schedule 1.


In the first paragraph, I think it is, of this update, it explains that in the context of this case, there had not been an effort to keep updating the record of this case consistent with the record in the GTA project case.


So my understanding is there may well be a number on the record in this case that did not get updated consistently with the updates in the GTA case.


The estimate that was referred to in the Board's decision in the GTA case is the correct number, is the updated number.


And as this evidence in this case that I've just referred to explains, the intent is to incorporate the findings from the GTA decision in an impact statement that will get filed in this case.  It hasn't happened yet.  The GTA project decision came out at the end of January; there have been so many other things happening.  It has not occurred, but the intent is that this impact statement will get filed, and the costs will -- are the same.


The cost estimate for that purpose is the cost that was the cost estimate in the GTA project case.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's helpful.


And then, just finally, will the -- as I understand it, the Board in the GTA decision directed Enbridge to file a draft accounting order.  That draft accounting order has been filed.  A final order has not been issued yet.


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Will Enbridge's deferral and variance account panel be able to speak to how that account might interact with the account that's proposed?


MR. CASS:  I would expect so, Ms. Chaplin, yes.  I believe that Mr. Culbert is on that panel, and without putting words in his mouth, I think he would be an appropriate person to answer those questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those were my only questions.


MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just mention as follow-up -- I understand what you've put on the record, but I think that it was my cross-examination of the capital panel where they corrected the number.  I'm trying to find the reference in the transcript, but I had said somewhere in the vicinity of 560 million –- does that make sense?  And I was corrected and told it was 590.


So I wonder if it would be appropriate to just find that reference and perhaps correct it on the record at some point.


MR. CASS:  That can be done, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  And I did want to also mention if we're -- sorry.


MS. CONBOY:  Well, I just want to advise the people at the back that they will not need to come up and take the stand.  I see some disappointed faces.  So, yeah, we'll get you another time.


[Laughter]


MS. CONBOY:  But if there was another matter, Ms. Sebalj, that you wanted to --


MS. SEBALJ:  There has been some discussion in the virtual world among some of the intervenors about the evidence, the financials that were filed yesterday by Mr. Culbert.  My understanding is that there are some questions related to that document.


I was hoping to speak to Mr. Cass, but didn't have a chance on the break, about, A, whether you are in agreement that that is appropriate and when.  I know Mr. Culbert is part of the SCR panel, panel number 12, and I wondered if the hearing Panel would be amenable to allowing some cross-examination of Mr. Culbert on the financials.


Obviously I'm asking leave of the hearing Panel, but also feedback from Mr. Cass about whether that would be appropriate.


MR. CASS:  Yes, my concern, Madam Chair, would arise simply because I'm not sure of the nature of the questions.


Mr. Culbert put the numbers together, yes.  To the extent that the questions delve more deeply into areas of the business that are not necessarily where Mr. Culbert works, I'm not sure that he can necessarily answer them all.


So, yeah, there would be an intent for Enbridge to do its best to answer the questions, but it is difficult to know how to do that without any sense of what the questions might be.


MS. SEBALJ:  I'm in the unfortunate position of trying to translate several e-mails that have been going back and forth, and it is not my personal request but there was discussion about whether Mr. Culbert would be -- I think that the discussion surrounds the $31.2 million over-earn, and so it may be that it's more appropriate for a different witness that's not on the SRC panel, in which case we have an issue of either -– well, I suppose recalling panel 1 doesn't help either.


Whether or not we need a member of the executive management team or -- with Mr. Culbert, or some other way of addressing questions arising from this undertaking response, J1.2.


I can take it offline with Mr. Cass and try to come up with a solution if that's more appropriate, but I just wanted to put it on the record so that it was -- those out there could hear me.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  And then perhaps in advance of taking it up with Mr. Cass, you could get back to the parties that are raising this, that they have a few more questions with respect to the over-earn.


If we could have some clarity in terms of what those questions are, then we can appropriately see whether those are, A, appropriate questions, and B, questions that can be answered by Mr. Culbert.


MS. SEBALJ:  That's fair.  I can do that.


MS. CONBOY:  And then it also looks like Mr. Culbert will be answering a few questions from the ones that were posed by Ms. Chaplin just now as well.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Not on the SRC panel; on the variance and deferrals panels, yes.  Mm-hmm.


MS. CONBOY:  Oh, that's right.  He is back on there.  My apologies.  Thank you.


So we'll let you take that offline, and perhaps you can advise the Panel through some sort of filing between now and...


MS. SEBALJ:  Thursday.


MS. CONBOY:  Well, Thursday.  That's right.


So if there are no other matters, we are adjourned until Thursday morning.  Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 11:40 a.m.
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